STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM ANDERSON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2014-002623

RECEIVED

APR 16 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

RICHARD KEVIN PATTERSON, 270085,

PETITIONER,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

TARA DAWN SHURLING
Attorney and Counselor at Law
S. C. Bar No. 5099

3614 Landmark Drive, Suite A
Columbia, S. C. 29204
(803) 738-8622
(803) 738-1600 (FAX)

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I.

Did Trial Counsel provide Petitioner ineffective assistance of Counsel in his handling of matters relating to Petitioner's statements to law enforcement immediately following the victim's death and his failure to secure an opportunity for Petitioner to give another statement at a later date?

II.

Was trial Counsel ineffective for failing to develop and present a defense of accident, and failing to request a jury charge on that defense, where that defense fit the physical evidence in this case, was entirely consistent with Petitioner's position concerning the events that lead to his girlfriend's death and would have enabled Trial Counsel to defuse the prosecution's claim that the physical evidence was inconsistent with suicide?

III.

Was Trial Counsel was ineffective for withdrawing his request for a jury instruction on the charge of involuntary manslaughter where under at least one possible interpretation of the Petitioner's testimony the jury may have believed that he struggled with the deceased for the weapon under circumstances which showed wanton and willful disregard for the victim's safety?

IV.

Was Trial Counsel ineffective in his handling of matters relating to the publication of crime scene photographs in Petitioner's case?

V.

Was Trial Counsel ineffective in the manner in which he handled the sudden appearance and introduction of evidence the defense had previously been told was missing and unavailable?

VI.

Was Trial Counsel ineffective for failing to object to portions of the State's closing arguments which either misstated the evidence adduced at trial or commented on matters not in evidence and in personally characterizing the death of Petitioner's girlfriend as a suicide where that description did not match Petitioner's position and where this characterization opened the door

for the State to argue that the physical evidence did not match Petitioner's claim of suicide?

VII.

Was trial Counsel ineffective for failing to hire an expert to introduce expert testimony concerning shock and post-traumatic stress and their possible impact on the likelihood that the Applicant might make inconsistent statements and/or false admissions in response to police interrogation and what effect witnessing a violent suicide by a loved one might have had on Petitioner's his ability to adequately proofread and adopt by incorporation a statement written by a third party.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner is incarcerated with the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to the Anderson County Clerk of Court's orders of commitment. The Anderson County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for Murder (2000-GS-04-1043) and Possession of a Firearm During the Commission of a Violent Crime (2000-GS-04-1042). Petitioner was represented on the charges by James Brehm, Esquire¹. On October 9-13, 2000, Petitioner went to trial by jury and was found guilty as indicted. The Honorable J. C. Nicholson, Jr. sentenced Petitioner to confinement for a term of life for murder and for a concurrent term of five (5) years on the weapons conviction.

A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on Applicant's behalf and an appeal was perfected by Tara Dawn Shurling, Esquire. The South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's conviction and sentence. *State v. Patterson, Opinion No. 2003-UP-143 (S.C. Ct. App. filed February 19, 2003)*. The South Carolina Supreme Court denied Petitioner's Petition for a Writ of Certiorari by written Order dated May 13, 2004.

Petitioner's Application for Post-Conviction Relief² was filed on July 26, 2004 and an

¹ Hereafter, Trial Counsel.

² Hereafter PCR.

Amended Application was filed on June 18, 2009. The State filed its Return on May 21, 2007. An evidentiary hearing was convened on June 18, 2009³ and was completed on February 26, 2013⁴. Petitioner was present at both proceedings and was represented at both hearings by Tara Dawn Shurling, Esquire. The State was represented by Assistant Attorney General, A. West Lee at the first hearing and Assistant Attorney General David Spencer at the second hearing.

In his PCR action, Petitioner has alleged generally that he received ineffective assistance of counsel prior to and during his trial in violation of his rights pursuant to the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, as well as, Article I, Section 14, of the South Carolina Constitution. In support of that claim he has raised the following general allegation in his original PCR Application:

1. Trial Counsel failed to adequately investigate the case prior to trial.
2. Trial Counsel failed to adequately prepare and present witnesses at trial.
3. Trial Counsel failed to recognize and present objections to errors which occurred during trial.
4. Trial Counsel failed to develop and present viable defenses to the charges against the Applicant prior to and during his trial.

In his subsequent Amended PCR Application Petitioner raised the following additional allegations:

1. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to arguments by the Solicitor in which she attempted to bolster the credibility of State's police witnesses by impermissibly vouching for their credibility by stating, "*but, isn't it interesting the police officers get it right.*"
2. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to renew his Motion for a Mistrial following the curative charge given by the trial court in response to an emotional outburst in the courtroom prompted by the

³ References to the record of this proceeding will be cited as PCR I.

⁴ References to the record of this proceeding will be cited as PCR II.

State's introduction of gruesome crime scene photographs which had a prejudicial impact on the Applicant's ability to receive a fair trial.

3. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to ask to review any photographs the prosecution intended to introduce in advance, and for failing to make an appropriate motion *in limine* to suppress those photographs, whose probative value was far outweighed by their potential for appealing to the passions and prejudices of the jury.
4. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to ask that friends and family be given warning in advance of the display of gruesome crime scene photographs and for failing to ask that those present in the courtroom be told that if anyone anticipated having difficulty remaining composed during the display of crime scene photographs of the victim, they should either position themselves so that they were insulated from viewing them or remove themselves from the proceeding while the photographs were being displayed.
5. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately challenge the admissibility and reliability of the statements allegedly made by the Applicant to the police following the death of the victim and for failing to sufficiently highlight factors which supported his claim that the statements in question were taken when he was not competent to know what he was saying and when he was not competent to prove statements written by a third party for accuracy.
6. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce expert testimony concerning shock and post-traumatic stress and their possible impact on the likelihood that the Applicant might make inconsistent statements and/or false admissions in response to police interrogation.
7. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce expert testimony concerning shock and post-traumatic stress and what effect witnessing a violent suicide by a loved one might have on his ability to adequately proofread and adopt by incorporation a statement written by a third party.
8. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to make an adequate proffer for the record to demonstrate the degree of the emotional response from the gallery following the display of enlarged gruesome crime scene photographs by projector during the Applicant's trial.
9. Trial counsel was ineffective for neglecting to object to a portion of the State's closing argument wherein the solicitor argued matters not in evidence, and, in effect, gave expert ballistics testimony by

asserting that the only explanation for the victim not having gunshot residue on her hands was for the Applicant to have wiped off the gun before he put the weapon in her hand after the shooting, where she was not a witness in this case and had not been qualified as an expert in the field of ballistics.

10. Trial counsel was ineffective for neglecting to object to a portion of the State's closing argument wherein the solicitor argued matters not in evidence, and, in effect, gave expert ballistics testimony by making assertions concerning the operation of the weapon used in this case and by giving a demonstration as to the proper operating procedure for the weapon in question, where she was not a witness in this case and had not been qualified as an expert in the field of ballistics.
11. Trial counsel was ineffective for neglecting to object to a portion of the State's closing argument wherein the solicitor argued a critical matter not in evidence by asserting as a known fact that the weapon which killed the deceased *was not loaded* until the Applicant loaded it with malice aforethought and by improperly stating that the Defendant took the safety off this weapon before the victim was shot.
12. Defense counsel was ineffective for withdrawing his request for a jury instruction on the charge of involuntary manslaughter where under at least one possible interpretation of the Applicant's testimony the jury may have believed that he struggled with the deceased for the weapon under circumstances which demonstrated a wanton and willful disregard for the life and safety of the deceased.
13. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to point out to the jury that although the prosecution had introduced testimony and evidence designed to demonstrate that the physical evidence in this case was inconsistent with suicide, that same evidence was not inconsistent with the Applicant's testimony that the gun went off while he was struggling with the victim for the weapon in an effort *to keep her from* shooting herself.
14. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately cross-examine witnesses concerning whether the testimony and evidence introduced by the prosecution to demonstrate that the physical evidence in this case was inconsistent with suicide was in fact not inconsistent with the shooting having taken place when the gun went off while the Applicant was struggling with the victim for the weapon in an effort *to keep her from* shooting herself.

15. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to request a jury instruction on the defense of accident when the facts as set forth in the Applicant's testimony clearly asserted that he gun went off while he was struggling with the victim in an attempt to stop her from committing suicide.
16. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to clearly argue to the jury that the Applicant's position was that the victim was shot when the weapon he was attempting to take away from her discharged during their struggle for control over the weapon.
17. Defense counsel was ineffective for consistently failing to clearly argue the distinction between the victim committing suicide and the Applicant's actual testimony which was that she was shot while he was struggling with her for control over a weapon which he believed she was about to use to commit suicide. Counsel's error in this regard being highly prejudicial to the defense where both the awkward angle of the gun shot and absence of gun powder residue around the wound were more consistent with a discharge during a struggle for a weapon than with an unimpeded suicide by handgun.
18. Defense counsel was ineffective for characterizing the victim's death as a suicide to the jury when the facts of the shooting as conveyed in the Applicant's trial testimony were consistent with the accidental discharge of the weapon during a struggle for the gun while the Applicant was trying to stop the victim from killing herself.
19. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to arguments by the State concerning the inconsistency of the physical evidence in this case from that normally found in suicide shootings where the actual testimony of the Applicant was that the gun discharged while he and the deceased were struggling over the weapon; a scenario far more consistent with the physical evidence in this case.
20. Defense counsel was ineffective for neglecting to subpoena as a witness for the defense the deceased's former husband, Steve Pearson, to testify to a previous incident where he had to take a gun away from the victim in order to prevent her from committing suicide in a sudden and unexpected manner.

During the evidentiary hearings held in this PCR matter Petitioner also developed testimony

which addressed the following failures of Trial Counsel.⁵

21. Trial Counsel was ineffective for neglecting to make arrangements for the Applicant to make another statement to law enforcement after the initial shock of this traumatic event.
22. Trial Counsel was ineffective for neglecting to make an appropriate objection when evidence the Applicant had previously been told was missing and unavailable, a hair sample from around the fatal wound, suddenly appeared in the courtroom and was introduced into evidence at trial as State's Exhibit No. 37.
23. Trial Counsel was ineffective for neglecting to make Motion for a Mistrial when evidence the Applicant had previously been told was missing and unavailable, a hair sample from around the fatal wound, suddenly appeared in the courtroom and was introduced into evidence at trial as State's Exhibit No. 37.
24. Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to, at minimum; make a request for a recess to enable the Applicant's expert, Dr. Ward, to examine the hair sample that suddenly appeared at trial after the defense had been denied access to this evidence for review by their independent expert.

At the outset of the first evidentiary hearing held in this case, Petitioner was sworn by the Court and affirmatively waived his right to raise any claims of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel. The record reveals that Petitioner was thoroughly advised of his right to raise claims of ineffective assistance of counsel against appellate counsel and entered a knowing and voluntary waiver of that right. App. p. 874 l. 12 – p. 877, l. 16.

An Order of Dismissal denying Petitioner relief was on filed June 6, 2014. Petitioner subsequently filed a timely Motion to Alter or Amend said order pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP, on June 30, 2014. That motion was denied by Order dated November 26, 2014. Petitioner's timely Notice of Appeal from said orders was filed on December 8, 2014. He now respectfully

To avoid confusion, these allegations have been numbered sequentially with the specific claims raised in Petitioner's Amended Application.

asks that the Writ be granted and that he be granted a reversal of the Order of Dismissal and a new trial based upon the arguments and authorities presented herein. In the alternative, he seeks the opportunity to fully brief the issues summarized in this petition.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Application for Post-Conviction Relief generally raised numerous specific allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel. The burden of proof is on the Petitioner in a Post-Conviction Relief proceeding to prove the allegations raised in his Application for Relief and at his Post-Conviction Relief hearing. *Thompson v. State*, 340 S.C. 112, 531 S.E.2d 294 (2000). In Post-Conviction Relief proceedings, the Petitioner has the burden of proof to establish that he is entitled to relief by a preponderance of the evidence. Rule 71.1(e), S.C.R.Civ.P.

In evaluating an Application for Post-Conviction Relief, the moving party must demonstrate that Defense Counsel (1) failed to provide him with reasonable professional assistance of counsel under the prevailing standards for attorneys representing clients in criminal matters; and (2) that he was prejudiced by the errors and omissions of counsel such that he was deprived of a fair trial. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). In other words, the Petitioner must show that, but for counsel's errors and omissions, there is a reasonable probability that the result at trial would have been different. *Id.*; *Johnson v. State*, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997). A reasonable probability has been defined by our Supreme Court as a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the trial. *Ard v. Catoe*, 372 S.C. 318, 330, 642 S.E.2d 590, 596 (2007).

This Honorable Court has found that where Defense Counsel articulates a valid reason for employing certain trial strategies, such conduct should not be deemed ineffective assistance of trial counsel. *Roseboro v. State*, 317 S.C. 292, 294, 454 S.E.2d 312, 313 (1995); *Stokes v. State*, 308 S.C. 546, 419 S.E.2d 778 (1992). On the other hand, counsel may not explain away

errors and omissions which acted to prejudice his client's ability to receive a fair trial simply by labeling them matters of trial strategy or tactics. In the case of *Ingle v. State*, 348 S.C. 467, 470, 560 S.E.2d 401, 402 (2002), the Court found, Counsel must articulate a **valid** reason for employing a certain strategy to avoid a finding of ineffectiveness. Where counsel articulates a strategy, it is measured against an objective standard of reasonableness.

QUESTION I

Original Allegations 1 and 2

Amended Allegations 5, 6 and 7, and Hearing Allegation 21.

Did Trial Counsel provide Petitioner ineffective assistance of Counsel in his handling of matters relating to Petitioner's statements to law enforcement immediately following the victim's death and his failure to secure an opportunity for Petitioner to give another statement at a later date?

Petitioner respectfully submits that the lower court erred in denying him relief where he met his burden of proof concerning his claims that Trial Counsel failed to adequately challenge the admissibility of statements attributed to him, failed to introduce expert testimony which would have supported the suppression of the statements in question and which, even if the statements were admitted by the trial judge, would have aided the jury in deciding whether in their judgment the statements were knowingly and voluntarily entered. Trial Counsel additionally was deficient for failing to make appropriate arrangements for Petitioner to make another statement to law enforcement once he was no longer in shock following the shooting death of his girlfriend.

In his PCR action, Petitioner specifically alleged that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to adequately challenge the admissibility and reliability of the statements allegedly made

by Petitioner to the police following the death of the victim and for failing to sufficiently highlight factors which supported his claim that the statements in question were taken when he was not competent to know what he was saying and when he was not competent to proof statements written by a third party for accuracy. He further argued that Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce expert testimony concerning shock and post-traumatic stress and their possible impact on the likelihood that Petitioner might make inconsistent statements and/or false admissions in response to police interrogation. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to introduce expert testimony concerning shock and post-traumatic stress and what effect witnessing the violent death of a loved one might have on his ability to adequately proofread, and adopt by incorporation, a statement written by a third party. In addition, Petitioner argued that Trial Counsel was ineffective for neglecting to make arrangements for Petitioner to make another statement to law enforcement after the initial shock of this traumatic event.

In his Motion to Alter or Amend the Order of Dismissal issued in his case, Petitioner asked the lower court to issue an amended Order where the Order of Dismissal failed to reference his Amended Application for PCR and the specific allegations raised therein. With regard to these particular allegations, Petitioner noted the Order of Dismissal failed to make finding of fact and ruling of law pertaining to the following:

1. In the portion of the Order of Dismissal captioned "Expert on Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder" this Court finds that relief is not appropriate where Applicant failed to present expert testimony that he was actually suffering from post-traumatic syndrome at the time of the offense. Applicant respectfully submits that this factual finding overlooks the fact that Trial Counsel had the opportunity, and indeed the duty, to obtain such an expert at a time more contemporaneous with the event. Applicant is not to blame for the fact that Trial Counsel failed to do so at the appropriate time. As a result of Trial Counsel's failure to have him evaluated right after the shooting, the best Applicant could do was prove how post-

traumatic stress disorder might have affected his behavior and his ability to make a reliable statement.

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