STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Appeal from Anderson County
J. Cordell Maddox, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2014-002623

JUL 31 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Richard Patterson,

Petitioner,

vs.

State of South Carolina,

Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

V.

Petitioner did not meet his burden of proving prejudice from counsel's alleged deficiency in regards to the alleged Rule 5, SCRCrimP, violation because Petitioner failed to show that additional testing of the hair sample would have provided any beneficial results.

Patterson claims the PCR court erred in denying relief on the allegation that counsel was ineffective in regards to a hair sample that was not made available to counsel. Counsel was told the sample was missing when he sought to have a defense expert test the sample for gun powder residue. However, the sample apparently was found, which counsel testified he first discovered at trial. Counsel, in hindsight, indicated he should have moved for mistrial or sought a continuance to test the hair sample. Patterson failed to offer any evidence of prejudice and fails to address in the petition why the PCR court's ruling on this point is erroneous.

The PCR court found counsel's performance deficient, but that Patterson failed to prove prejudice, explaining:

Counsel admitted he failed to put his motion for continuance on the record. Counsel's performance in this regard was deficient. However, Applicant has not proven prejudice. Applicant has not sought to test the hair and there is no evidence in the record that had the defense expert tested the hair, he would have found gun powder residue on the hair.

Instead, the trial testimony suggests it was unlikely that had the hair been tested by the defense expert, gun powder residue would have been detected, which would be evidence that the gun was fired from a closer range. At trial, the State's pathologist testified he viewed the hair with magnifying lenses and did not see any gun powder residue in the victim's hair. Tr. pp. 210-211. This Court cannot speculate on the results of a test that never occurred and therefore finds Applicant has failed to meet his burden of

proving prejudice. Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 481 S.E.2d 129 (1997) (finding one could only speculate whether counsel could have done a better cross-examination of a doctor, therefore, applicant did not meet his burden of proving prejudice).

App. pp. 1134-35.

Patterson fails to address why the PCR court's prejudice analysis is incorrect. It is not. Patterson failed to show a reasonable probability that analysis of the hair sample by his expert would have produced beneficial results. Skeen v. State, 325 S.C. 210, 481 S.E.2d 129 (1997). Further, in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt, suppression of the hair sample would not have affected the outcome of trial. Error is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. State v. Reeves, 301 S.C. 191, 194, 391 S.E.2d 241, 243 (1990). Accordingly, the PCR court did not err.

VI.

Counsel was not ineffective for failing to object to unobjectionable portions of the prosecution's closing argument, and counsel's own closing argument did not fall below professional norms.

Patterson argues counsel should have objected to portions of the State's closing argument and further argues counsel should have argued that the shooting was an accident and not a suicide. The prosecution's arguments were based on the record and reasonable inferences from the record. Therefore, the prosecution's argument was proper. Further, counsel made an excellent closing argument that could not overcome the enormity of evidence pointing conclusively to Patterson's guilt.

First, Patterson argues that counsel should have objected to the prosecution's assertion in closing argument that the gun was unloaded and Patterson loaded the weapon. However, the State elicited testimony that the weapon was stored in a drawer and the clip was not loaded in the gun. App. p. 532. Counsel testified he did not object because the State was also presenting the theory, based on his confession, that he took the gun from Victim walked a few steps away and fired. App. p. 970, line 15 – p. 971, line 11. The prosecution "may argue the State's version of the testimony presented, and furthermore may comment on the weight to be accorded such testimony." State v. New, 338 S.C. 313, 526 S.E.2d 237 (Ct. App. 1999). The solicitor's closing argument is permissible where it stays within the record and reasonable inferences to it. Humphries v. State, 351 S.C. 362, 570 S.E.2d 160 (2002). Patterson admitted buying two drinks from the store after Victim died and putting the weapon in her hand after she was dead. While a counterargument may be made that Victim

is the one who loaded the weapon, the State is allowed to state their theory of the case, which was Patterson murdered Victim and staged the scene in an attempt to make it appear to be suicide.

Since the argument is based on the record and a reasonable inference from the record, the prosecution's argument was proper and the argument was not objectionable. Additionally, counsel was reasonable in not objecting since it arguably inconsistent with other aspects of the State's theory of the case. Further, the argument was hardly prejudicial such as would warrant a new trial, particularly in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt.

Accordingly, counsel was not ineffective and the PCR court did not err. Further, this argument was not addressed in the PCR court's order. Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992) (an issue must be raised by the PCR applicant and ruled upon by the PCR court to be preserved for review).

Patterson also argues that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecution's argument that Patterson wiped the gun clean in the kitchen as an explanation as to why no gunshot residue was found in her hand. A larger excerpt puts context to the prosecution's argument:

The Defendant took the gun after he shot her and remember in his written statement he said, I went to the kitchen that was the next step in his plan before he could set up the alibi, he went to the kitchen he took the gun, why do you think he chose the kitchen, to wipe it off, put a little something moist to put on it to wipe off the fingerprints, now he doesn't know about gunshot residue. So he then comes back and he places the gun in his beloved's hand, including putting the finger through the trigger. The problem is if he hadn't wiped it clean she would have gunshot residue in her palm, but she didn't, there was nothing found in the palm of her hand,

where's the sudden heat of passion.

App. p. 763, line 18 – p. 764, line 5.

The prosecutor's argument is again based on the record and reasonable inferences. Patterson, in his statement, said he went to the kitchen. The State's theory was the reason for going to the kitchen was to wipe fingerprints off the gun, which would also mean any gunshot residue would have been wiped off. The argument was not objectionable. Further, the argument was not prejudicial in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt.

Patterson also argues that counsel should have objected to the prosecution's arguments about the physical evidence being inconsistent with suicide because in Patterson's view, the evidence was more consistent with accident. The record is replete with claims that Victim committed suicide or was suicidal. Patterson chose this defense when he made his fraudulent 911 call, disavowed on redirect examination that there was a struggle, and **admitted** at trial to trying to manufacture evidence by putting the weapon in Victim's hands. App. p. 646, p. 671, lines 19-23. The prosecution was free to discuss why the evidence did not look like suicide, even if counsel chose to pursue accident as his strategy.

Throughout his petition, Patterson has argued that counsel's strategy was all wrong: counsel should have been pursuing an accident defense. Consistent with this theme, Patterson argues that counsel's closing argument should have been focused on accident, not suicide.

Counsel pursued a valid trial strategy. Patterson chose suicide as his defense when he called 911 and when he first spoke to law enforcement. Patterson's rendition of events at trial, which Patterson is stuck with, focused on Victim's alleged suicidal state of mind: she

was upset about breaking up her family and Patterson's family, she was upset about her father, and she said everyone would be better off without her. She raised the gun to her head and although Patterson claims he put his hands over her in a belated attempt to stop her, her hand was on the trigger, not his. Patterson denied there was a struggle. App. 684-85. Counsel presented evidence that Victim was suicidal in the past. Counsel testified that the first time he heard about a struggle was when the prosecution brought it up. Most importantly, the defense was consistent with the facts that Patterson related to him.

Counsel's closing argument furthered the defense and did not fall below reasonable professional norms. One of the points counsel made was that the last statement, the one where he admits to killing Victim, could not be true because it would have been physically impossible for him to walk towards the bedroom from the couch and shoot – there was not enough room according to counsel (and Patterson): “[Y]ou cannot shoot someone in the back of the head through the wall.” App. p. 741, lines 1-15. Counsel accused the prosecution of “shifting gears” by arguing that Patterson retrieved the gun. App. p. 741, line 11. Counsel claimed, “[t]hey don't believe the statement either.” App. p. 741, line 22. Counsel criticizes the State for failing to test the hair sample and tells the jury, “[t]his hair, ladies and gentlemen, would prove beyond all doubt that my client is not guilty.” App. p. 742, lines 21-23.

Then counsel emphasized evidence of Victim's mental state, arguing to the jury as follows:

Who got the gun, Kevin or Leanne? Leanne is a woman, ladies and gentlemen, that is suffering from major depression. She is a woman that has gone to seek help. She is a woman

that when she wrote on the intake form about suicide in the past, she admitted to trying, or attempting suicide two times prior. She is a woman that tried to get out of a car and throw herself into traffic. She is a woman, ladies and gentlemen, that at one time took her father's gun and tried to commit suicide. And guess what, Steve, her husband[,] had to take the gun away from her. That's eerie, that is eerie to me.

App. p. 743, lines 14-23.

Counsel came to the conclusion for the jury that Victim retrieved the gun. Counsel pointed out the conflicts in Victim's life and pointed out that Patterson and Victim were planning to get married. App. p. 745.

Counsel then emphasized Patterson's own testimony to the jury as follows:

Kevin explained to you what happened. He says she goes and puts the gun up to her head, says he reaches up and stands up and says, no. Grabs her hands and pulls the gun away. She's – kind of like this, I believe is how he demonstrated it. Here's the entrance wound, here's the exit wound, and the bullet is found in the couch. . . . State's exhibit 22, look at it . . . [because] in terms of the trajectory, in terms of where the barrel of the gun was when it went off. Because it accurately depicts the trajectory of that bullet, and that, ladies and gentlemen, just happens to coincide with what Kevin is saying.

App. p. 748, lines 2-19.

Counsel argued that Patterson's testimony corresponded with the physical evidence: "And it's no different than what Kevin is telling you. Is he down the hall firing through the wall back at her head. No. He's pulling at the gun trying to [get] it away this way, and that's the situation." App. p. 746, line 25 – p. 747, line 3.

Counsel undertook the difficult task of explaining Patterson's actions afterwards. He told the jury Patterson went to the store and came back hoping Victim was still alive.

Counsel argued that Patterson was consistent because he told the 911 operator it was suicide and told law enforcement it was suicide. Counsel explained disarmingly that Patterson put the gun back in Victim's hand because she got the gun and she was the one with her finger on the trigger. Then counsel dismissed the "so-called" statement admitting guilt and chided law enforcement for not videotaping the interview, noting depositions are videotaped. App. p. 748.

Contrary to Patterson's assertions, counsel dealt with the unfavorable physical evidence and gave an explanation consistent with Patterson's testimony. It was a bit much for the jury to swallow, sure. But definitely no more than the tenuous, hindsight-induced assertions made in Petitioner's brief that are contradicted by Patterson's own words, especially his admission that there was no struggle. Counsel's strategy was superior to what has been offered in the petition, and more to the point, it did not fall below professional norms. The argument faithfully executed counsel's well-reasoned strategy that was the best possible in the face of the overwhelming evidence of Patterson's guilt.

VII.

Counsel's performance was not deficient for declining to retain an expert on post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) and because Petitioner chose to not be evaluated to determine if he suffered PTSD, Petitioner failed to prove prejudice.

Rehashing a sub-argument in Patterson's first issue, Patterson argues the PCR court erred in denying relief on the grounds that counsel should have retained an expert in post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD). Patterson claims that the PCR court did not consider the value of the expert's testimony. The expert's testimony had no value because while the expert established that someone watching a person they are close to commit suicide **could** cause trauma affecting their behavior, the expert's testimony did not relate to the facts of Patterson's case, and the expert was unable to say whether Patterson might have suffered such trauma because Patterson refrained from being examined by his own expert.

The PCR court noted the expert's testimony about the disorder generally, but also noted that the expert never interviewed Patterson and did not opine on whether Patterson suffered from the disorder. The PCR court found:

While determining whether an applicant suffered from such a disorder at the time of the homicide may be difficult ten years after the fact, this Court notes that Dr. Martin testified that he "wouldn't give up on it" had he been asked to evaluate Applicant. Deposition transcript (Depo Tr.) p. 14, line 23 – p. 15, line 22. Dr. Martin further stated: "But I would not write off a case simply because the person is now ten years out." Depo Tr. p. 15, lines 24-25. Regardless, Applicant failed to present expert testimony that Applicant was actually suffering from post-traumatic syndrome at the time of the offense. Accordingly, this Court finds any benefit from retaining an expert at trial speculative. This Court finds that Applicant has failed to meet his burden of proving prejudice.

App. p. 1132.

Patterson fails to point out how the PCR court's determination is wrong. A claim of ineffectiveness should be denied where claims of prejudice are only supported by mere speculation. See Moorehead v. State, 329 S.C. 329, 334, 496 S.E.2d 415, 417 (1998) (holding, where there was nothing in the record to indicate that interviewing the victims would have led to any different result, trial counsel's failure to conduct an independent investigation did not constitute ineffective assistance of counsel, as the allegation was supported only by mere speculation as to the result). In the instant case, it is speculative at best that an expert would have been able to provide helpful testimony.

Further, counsel's strategic decision was reasonable. Counsel was aware that Patterson carried a long history of misbehavior, and Patterson's self-protective behavior, such as placing the gun back in Victim's dead hand, putting her limp finger on the trigger, and fabricating an alibi, is difficult to reconcile with an allegation that PTSD caused Patterson to confess to a crime he did not commit. Counsel could readily discount the chances of a favorable diagnosis given the evidence and even if he could not articulate, in retrospect, all of the possible bad past that might be dredged up, he articulated a valid strategic reason for not employing the services of a PTSD expert. Accordingly, this petition for writ of certiorari should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, the petition for writ of certiorari should be denied. Should this Court grant certiorari, Respondent respectfully requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.